

European Commission against Racism and Intolerance Commission européenne contre le racisme et l'intolérance

CRI(2007)5

# European Commission against Racism and Intolerance

# Third report on Slovenia

Adopted on 30 June 2006

Strasbourg, 13 February 2007



# Table of contents

FOREWORD	3
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
I. FOLLOW-UP TO ECRI'S SECOND REPORT ON SLOVENIA	5
INTERNATIONAL LEGAL INSTRUMENTS	5
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND OTHER BASIC PROVISIONS	5
CRIMINAL LAW PROVISIONS	6
CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE LAW PROVISIONS	9
SPECIALISED BODIES AND OTHER INSTITUTIONS	10
- The Advocate of the Principle of Equality and the Co Government for the Implementation of the Principle of Equal Treat	
- The Human Rights Ombudsman	
EDUCATION AND AWARENESS-RAISING	12
RECEPTION AND STATUS OF NON-CITIZENS	13
- Asylum seekers	
- Refugees	15
ACCESS TO PUBLIC SERVICES	15
- Access to education	15
- Access to housing	
- Access to other services	
EMPLOYMENT	17
VULNERABLE GROUPS	18
- Roma communities	
- Ex-Yugoslav minority groups	
- Muslim communities	
- Other groups	
ANTISEMITISM	20
Media	21
CLIMATE OF OPINION	21
USE OF RACIST AND XENOPHOBIC DISCOURSE IN POLITICS	22
CONDUCT OF LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICIALS	23
MONITORING THE SITUATION	24
II. SPECIFIC ISSUES	25
THE SITUATION OF THE "ERASED"	25
THE SITUATION OF THE ROMA COMMUNITIES	27
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

#### Foreword

The European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) was established by the Council of Europe. It is an independent human rights monitoring body specialised in questions relating to racism and intolerance. It is composed of independent and impartial members, who are appointed on the basis of their moral authority and recognised expertise in dealing with racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance.

One of the pillars of ECRI's work programme is its country-by-country approach, whereby it analyses the situation as regards racism and intolerance in each of the member States of the Council of Europe and makes suggestions and proposals as to how to tackle the problems identified.

The country-by-country approach deals with all member States of the Council of Europe on an equal footing. The work is taking place in 4-5 year cycles, covering 9-10 countries per year. The reports of the first round were completed at the end of 1998 and those of the second round at the end of the year 2002. Work on the third round reports started in January 2003.

The third round reports focus on "implementation". They examine if ECRI's main recommendations from previous reports have been followed and implemented, and if so, with what degree of success and effectiveness. The third round reports deal also with "specific issues", chosen according to the different situations in the various countries, and examined in more depth in each report.

The working methods for the preparation of the reports involve documentary analyses, a contact visit in the country concerned, and then a confidential dialogue with the national authorities.

ECRI's reports are not the result of inquiries or testimonial evidences. They are analyses based on a great deal of information gathered from a wide variety of sources. Documentary studies are based on an important number of national and international written sources. The in situ visit allows for meeting directly the concerned circles (governmental and non-governmental) with a view to gathering detailed information. The process of confidential dialogue with the national authorities allows the latter to propose, if they consider it necessary, amendments to the draft report, with a view to correcting any possible factual errors which the report might contain. At the end of the dialogue, the national authorities may request, if they so wish, that their viewpoints be appended to the final report of ECRI.

The following report was drawn up by ECRI under its own and full responsibility. It covers the situation as of 30 June 2006 and any development subsequent to this date is not covered in the following analysis nor taken into account in the conclusions and proposal made by ECRI.

#### Executive summary

Since the publication of ECRI's second report on Slovenia on 8 July 2003, progress has been made in a number of the fields highlighted in that report. The legal framework against racial discrimination has been strengthened through the adoption of primary antidiscrimination legislation covering different areas of life, whose implementation and monitoring is supported by newly established institutions, including the Advocate of the Principle of Equality. Progress has been made in the field of improving opportunities for Roma children in education, where the authorities have started to implement a strategy adopted in 2004. Work on the preparation of a comprehensive legal framework regulating the rights of the Roma communities in accordance with the Constitution is under way and is expected to be finalised before the end of 2006. The mechanisms for dealing with complaints of police misconduct have been improved and made more transparent. The Human Rights Ombudsman, who has continued to provide invaluable support to members of minority groups, is in the process of focusing activities specifically against discrimination and for the promotion of a positive attitude towards diversity.

However, a number of recommendations made in ECRI's second report have not been implemented, or have only been partially implemented. The situation of those persons who were unlawfully erased from the register of permanent residents in February 1992 has not yet been solved, in spite of a Constitutional Court decision from April 2003 indicating the necessary steps to do so, which has not yet been implemented. In the absence of an overall strategy to simultaneously address all areas where Roma experience disadvantage and discrimination, the members of this group, including those considered by the Slovenian authorities as "non-autochthonous", are still in need of special support in order to enjoy equal opportunities with the rest of the Slovenian population. Ex-Yugoslav minority groups still experience prejudice, disadvantage and discrimination in a number of areas and do not yet enjoy access to opportunities to promote their identity in a way that fully reflects their contribution to Slovenian society. Negative attitudes and generalisations concerning the members of the Muslim communities still appear in public debate, notably in connection with the issue of the construction of a Mosque in Ljubljana, which is long overdue. The protection provided to persons seeking asylum in Slovenia has been weakened by the adoption of amendments to the Law on Asylum in 2006. The increased use of racist, xenophobic and otherwise intolerant discourse in Slovenian politics since ECRI's last report hampers efforts to improve the situation for all minority groups, including those mentioned above.

In this report, ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take further action in a number of areas. These areas include: the need to strengthen the legal framework against racism and racial discrimination, including through ratification of Protocol No.12 to the European Convention of Human Rights and the introduction of provisions explicitly establishing racist motivation as a specific aggravating circumstance for all offences; the need to improve implementation of the legal framework in force and monitoring thereof; the need to raise awareness of racism and racial discrimination among the authorities and the general public and to work with minority groups to improve their confidence in the institutions. In this report, ECRI also recommends that the Slovenian authorities: fully implement the Constitutional Court's decision concerning the "erased" without further delay; take measures to improve the situation of the Roma population in a number of areas; establish a meaningful dialogue with minority groups wishing to access better opportunities to express their identity; ensure that the practicing Muslim population finally enjoys the use of a proper Mosque. It also recommends that measures be taken against the use of racist and xenophobic discourse in politics.

# I. FOLLOW-UP TO ECRI'S SECOND REPORT ON SLOVENIA

#### International legal instruments

- 1. In its second report, ECRI recommended that Slovenia ratify Protocol No. 12 to the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) as soon as possible. It also recommended that Slovenia become party to the European Convention on Nationality, the Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level and the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers.
- 2. ECRI notes that Slovenia has not yet ratified Protocol No. 12 to the ECHR. Although they recognise the importance of this instrument, the Slovenian authorities report that they do not expect to ratify Protocol No. 12 before the reform addressing the workload of the European Court of Human Rights, which will be competent for monitoring State parties' compliance with the Protocol, is completed. They have also stressed that they do not intend to ratify Protocol No. 12 before its scope has been clarified through the case law of the Court. However, the Slovenian authorities have also stated that they will re-assess the issue of ratification of Protocol No. 12, especially taking into account that Article 14 of the Slovenian Constitution already contains a similar provision<sup>1</sup>.
- 3. As regards the European Convention on Nationality, the Slovenian authorities have pointed out that the principles contained in this instrument have already been included in Slovenian legislation and have stated that they will follow ECRI's recommendation with regard to ratification of this convention.
- 4. The Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level has not yet been signed. However, the Slovenian authorities have reported that the process towards signature of this instrument is well under way. Slovenia has not yet signed the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, which has entered into force since ECRI's second report, and the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers. The Slovenian authorities have reported that these instruments are being examined but there appear to be no immediate plans for signature or ratification.
- 5. ECRI is pleased to note that Slovenia ratified the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Cybercrime, concerning the criminalisation of acts of a racist and xenophobic nature committed through computer systems in September 2004.

#### **Recommendations:**

6. ECRI strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities ratify Protocol No. 12 to the ECHR without delay. It reiterates its recommendation that the Slovenian authorities ratify the European Convention on Nationality, the Convention on the Participation of Foreigners in Public Life at Local Level and the European Convention on the Legal Status of Migrant Workers. It furthermore recommends that the Slovenian authorities ratify the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families.

## Constitutional provisions and other basic provisions

7. As already noted in ECRI's second report, the Slovenian Constitution contains safeguards against discrimination – albeit limited to discrimination in respect of human rights and fundamental freedoms and not in respect of all rights

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See below, "Constitutional provisions and other basic provisions".

established by law -- and enshrines the principle of equality before the law<sup>2</sup>. The Constitution also contains other provisions that are relevant in guaranteeing protection against racism and racial discrimination<sup>3</sup>. ECRI notes that the Constitution has provided, including since ECRI's last report, a solid basis for protecting individuals against violations of their rights in areas covered by ECRI's mandate, notably through the case-law of the Constitutional Court<sup>4</sup>. However, it also notes that some of the provisions recommended in its General Policy Recommendations for national constitutions, do not yet feature in the Slovenian Constitution.

#### **Recommendations:**

8. ECRI invites the Slovenian authorities to consider strengthening the protection provided by the Slovenian Constitution against racism and racial discrimination. To this end, it draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to its General Policy Recommendation No.7<sup>5</sup>, notably as concerns the need for constitutions to enshrine "the principle of equal treatment, the commitment of the State to promote equality as well as the right of individuals to be free from discrimination on grounds such as race, colour, language, religion, nationality or national or ethnic origin"<sup>6</sup>.

#### Criminal law provisions

 In its second report, ECRI noted that the provisions in force against racism and racial discrimination, including Article 141<sup>7</sup> of the Criminal Code which prohibits discrimination and Article 300<sup>8</sup> which prohibits incitement to racial hatred, were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Article 14 of the Constitution states that everybody in Slovenia is guaranteed equal human rights and fundamental freedoms irrespective of national origin, race, sex, language, religion, political or other beliefs, material status, birth, education, social status, disability or any other personal circumstances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Article 13 of the Constitution provides that "in accordance with treaties, aliens in Slovenia enjoy all the rights guaranteed by this Constitution and laws, except for those rights that pursuant to this Constitution or law only citizens of Slovenia enjoy". The Slovenian Constitution also provides for equality of all persons before any public authority (Article 22) and in access to employment (Article 49). Furthermore, according to Article 16 of the Constitution, temporary suspension or limitation of rights cannot result in inequality based *inter alia* on national origin, race, language and religion. Article 63 furthermore prohibits incitement to national, racial, religious or other inequality and the encouragement of national, racial, religious or other hatred and intolerance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See below, "Reception and status of non-citizens – Asylum seekers", "Conduct of law enforcement officials" and "The situation of the 'erased'".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CRI (2003) 8: ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°7 on national legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, February 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°7, paragraphs 2-3 (and paragraphs 10-11 of the Explanatory Memorandum).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Article 141 of the Criminal Code provides that whoever, due to differences in respect of nationality, race, skin colour, religion, ethnic origin, gender, language, political or other beliefs, birth status, education, social position or any other circumstances, prevents another person's enjoyment of any human right or freedom recognised by the international community or laid down by the Constitution or the statute, or grants to any person a special privilege or advantage on the basis of such discrimination shall be punished by a fine or sentenced to imprisonment for not more than one year. The same punishment applies to the offence of harassing an individual or organisation promoting equality (paragraph 2). Paragraph 3 contains a qualified form of the criminal offence of infringing equality as defined in paragraph 1 and 2 and foresees a greater punishment (imprisonment for up to three years) for public officials abusing their official function.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Following amendments introduced in 2004 (reproduced *in italics*), Article 300 (*Stirring up Hatred, Strife or Intolerance based on Violation of the Principle of Equality*) punishes with imprisonment of up to two years "whoever provokes or stirs up ethnic, racial or religious hatred, strife or intolerance or disseminates ideas on the superiority of one race over another *or assists racist activities in any manner or denies, diminishes the significance of, approves of or advocates genocide*". A qualified form of this basic criminal offence is defined as including the use of force or ill-treatment, endangering safety, desecration of national ethnic or religious symbols, damaging movable property of another or desecrating monuments, memorial stones or graves. In these cases imprisonment can be imposed for up to five years.

not used sufficiently. It therefore recommended that the Slovenian authorities take steps to improve the implementation of these provisions, notably by training those involved in the criminal justice system, raising their awareness of the need to take all manifestations of racism and racial discrimination seriously, and strengthening awareness among potential victims of their rights as well as these persons' willingness to report breaches.

- 10. It does not appear to ECRI that the situation concerning the implementation of these provisions has changed considerably since ECRI's last report. A slight increase in the number of complaints under Article 141 that have reached the Public Prosecutor has been registered -- for instance 37 such complaints were filed in the period 2004 2005. However, these complaints have rarely resulted in charges being pressed and virtually never in convictions. Furthermore, ECRI notes that since more refined data on the application of this provision is not collected, the extent to which these cases reflect cases of discrimination falling within ECRI's mandate is unclear. As concerns Article 300, whose formulation was amended in 2004 in order to bring it into line with the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Cybercrime<sup>9</sup>, the authorities report that in the period 2004 2005, the Public Prosecutor dealt with 27 cases, none of which have so far resulted in convictions. ECRI notes however, that charges have been pressed in six cases.
- 11. The Slovenian authorities have stressed that these figures reflect the very limited number of complaints from individuals in these areas and the fact that, in many cases, proceedings must be discontinued for lack of witnesses or the impossibility to identify the perpetrators. It has been reported to ECRI however, that other factors relating more strictly to the practice of the criminal justice authorities, including for instance as concerns the decision of the prosecuting authorities on whether or not to open proceedings in alleged cases of incitement to racial hatred, also come into play. At the same time ECRI notes that since its second report, positive developments have also taken place in this area, with charges in cases of incitement to racial hatred committed through the Internet having been brought before the courts for the first time.
- 12. In ECRI's opinion, one of the areas of criminal law where most progress is needed in Slovenia is racially-motivated offences. In its second report, ECRI noted that not enough attention was paid by the various actors of the criminal justice system to the possible racist dimension of offences and that, as a rule, when such offences were committed they were dealt with as ordinary offences. Among other measures, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities introduce a criminal law provision establishing racist motivation as a specific aggravating circumstance in sentencing. ECRI notes that no such provision has been introduced since its last report. The Slovenian authorities have stressed that they do not consider this provision to be necessary, as racist motivation can already be taken into account under Article 41 of the Criminal Code, which provides in a general way that the courts shall consider the motives of an offence in determining the sentence. However, ECRI considers that the establishment of racist motivation as a specific aggravating circumstance would not only allow for racist offences to be better recognised and punished, but also enable better monitoring of the response of the criminal justice to racially-motivated offences --ECRI notes that data on whether and to what extent racial motivation is taken into account by courts pursuant to Article 41 is not available at present. In this connection, ECRI has been informed of a very limited number of cases since its last report where the criminal justice system has dealt with racially-motivated offences. ECRI notes that in none of these cases was the offence finally found to have been committed on racist grounds, but the proceedings in at least two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See above, "International legal instruments".

cases are still pending before the prosecuting authorities or the court. ECRI notes that these figures appear to be at variance with the situation as described by victims of racially-motivated offences to civil society organisations.

- 13. ECRI notes that a Protection of Public Order Act, which covers minor offences, entered into effect in Slovenia in July 2006. One provision of the Act stipulates that certain types of conduct (including damaging official symbols, graffiti or indecent behaviour) are punished more severely if committed with the purpose of inciting *inter alia* to national, racial, ethnic or religious intolerance.
- 14. ECRI notes that since its second report, a number of initiatives have been taken to train the different actors of the criminal justice system on the existing provisions against racism and racial discrimination and racially-motivated offences. In particular, the authorities have reported that 40 out of approximately 220 serving prosecutors have already been trained on these subjects. Training activities have also been carried out for the police and judges, notably by the non-governmental sector. However, ECRI has continued to receive reports according to which instances of racism and racial discrimination or racially-motivated offences are not yet always addressed with the necessary attention or diligence. Measures to reach out to potential victims to raise awareness of their rights and encourage them to come forward with complaints have also been limited.

- 15. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to improve the implementation of the criminal law provisions in force against racism and racial discrimination and, in particular, that they improve the response of the criminal justice system to racially-motivated offences.
- 16. To this end, ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities strengthen their efforts to ensure that all those involved in the criminal justice system, from lawyers to the police, prosecuting authorities and the courts, are equipped with thorough knowledge of the provisions in force against racism and racial discrimination, trained on how to recognise and deal with racist motivation of offences, and made fully aware of the need to actively and thoroughly counter all manifestations of these phenomena.
- 17. In addition, ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take measures to raise the awareness among potential victims of racism and racial discrimination of their rights and the legislation in force and to encourage them to come forward with complaints.
- 18. ECRI strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities introduce a criminal law provision that expressly considers the racist motivation of an offence as a specific aggravating circumstance. More generally, ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities keep the criminal law provisions in force against racism and racial discrimination under review and fine-tune them as necessary. To this end, ECRI draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to its General Policy Recommendation No.7, and particularly to the recommendations concerning the criminalisation of certain forms of racist expression<sup>10</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°7, paragraph 18 a-f (and paragraphs 38-42 of the Explanatory Memorandum).

#### Civil and administrative law provisions

- 19. In its second report ECRI noted that apart from employment, where more detailed antidiscrimination provisions had recently been introduced<sup>11</sup>, there was no comprehensive civil and administrative antidiscrimination legislation in Slovenia which would cover all fields of life, from education to housing, health, goods and services intended for the public and public places, exercise of economic activity and public services. ECRI therefore recommended that such legislation be introduced and that ECRI's General Policy Recommendation No.7 be used as a reference in this process.
- ECRI is pleased to note that in April 2004, Slovenia adopted the Implementation 20. of the Principle of Equal Treatment Act (hereafter: IPETA). This legislation, which was introduced in order to transpose the two European Council Directives on equal treatment<sup>12</sup>, covers discrimination on grounds of inter alia national, racial or ethnic origin, language and religious convictions and in a number of fields, including employment, labour relations, participation in trade unions and interest associations, education, social security and access to and supply of goods and services. The IPETA bans direct and indirect discrimination, victimisation and harassment, and provides for the establishment of two bodies: the Government Council for Fulfilling the Principle of Equal Treatment, and the Advocate of the Principle of Equality which is competent to hear and process individual complaints<sup>13</sup>. ECRI welcomes the fact that a number of elements included in its General Policy Recommendation No.7 are reflected in the IPETA. It also notes however, that other aspects of this General Policy Recommendation have not been included, for instance as concerns the fields covered by the antidiscrimination legislation, the need to include nationality (i.e. citizenship) among the prohibited grounds of discrimination, or the need to place public authorities under a statutory duty to promote equality and prevent discrimination in carrying out their functions -- an element which ECRI believes could help to bring about positive changes in public administration in these fields.
- As concerns implementation, ECRI notes that from 1 January 2005, when she 21. took up her functions, until the end of that year, the Advocate of the Principle of Equality has received 32 complaints under the IPETA. ECRI notes however, that the vast majority of these complaints did not concern grounds covered by its mandate, but other grounds, especially age. Although the authorities underline that it is too early to draw a reliable picture, ECRI notes that the two main areas addressed by these complaints are employment and education. It has been noted that the very limited number of complaints of racial discrimination reflects. at least in part, the fact that the new legal and institutional framework against racial discrimination is not known well enough to the public, and in particular to potential victims of this phenomenon. In this respect, ECRI notes that the Government's Office for Equal Opportunities has taken a number of initiatives to raise awareness of the new legal and institutional framework in force among the general public, through conferences and the production and dissemination of leaflets and handbooks. The authorities report that they have also targeted awareness raising efforts to strategic partners such as trade unions, the legal community, groups vulnerable to discrimination and students. ECRI notes that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Employment Relationship Act, 24 April 2004, Official Gazette No. 42/2002. Concerning the implementation of this act, see below "Employment".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Directive 2000/43/EC of the Council of the European Union implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin and Directive 2000/78/EC of the Council of the European Union establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See below, "Specialised bodies and other institutions".

the non-governmental sector has also provided training on antidiscrimination legislation to judges and civil society organisations.

#### **Recommendations:**

- 22. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities in their efforts to ensure that civil and administrative law provisions provide adequate protection against discrimination. It recommends that they keep the existing provisions against racial discrimination under review. In this respect, ECRI draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to its General Policy Recommendation No.7, in particular as concerns: the need to protect individuals from discrimination on grounds of nationality (i.e. citizenship); the areas that should be covered by antidiscrimination legislation<sup>14</sup>; the need to place public authorities under a duty to promote equality and prevent discrimination in carrying out their functions<sup>15</sup>.
- 23. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to improve the implementation of the existing civil and administrative law provisions against racial discrimination. It recommends that such steps include strengthened efforts to raise awareness among the general public, groups vulnerable to racial discrimination, the legal community and other strategic partners of the civil and administrative legal framework in force against discrimination.

#### Specialised bodies and other institutions

# - The Advocate of the Principle of Equality and the Council of the Government for the Implementation of the Principle of Equal Treatment

- 24. In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities establish an independent specialised body to effectively monitor the situation of racism and racial discrimination and assist with the implementation of antidiscrimination legislation. As mentioned above<sup>16</sup>, two bodies have been set up by the IPETA since ECRI's second report: the Advocate of the Principle of Equality and the Government Council for Fulfilling the Principle of Equal Treatment.
- 25. Established within the Government's Office for Equal Opportunities, the Advocate of the Principle of Equality is competent for providing assistance to victims of discrimination, including racial discrimination, carrying out surveys and publishing reports. Victims of discrimination can file a complaint with the Advocate, who examines the case and issues an opinion. The opinion can also contain recommendations on how any irregularities found should be rectified. The Advocate cannot issue sanctions. However, in case its recommendations are not followed or in case of a clear-cut case of discrimination, it can start a procedure before the Inspector, which in turn may result in court proceedings. ECRI notes that in none of the cases of discrimination dealt with by the Advocate in 2005<sup>17</sup> it has been necessary to start proceedings before the Inspectors. ECRI welcomes the establishment of the Advocate of the Principle of Equality as an important step towards providing better protection of persons living in Slovenia against racial discrimination. However, as highlighted in its General Policy Recommendation No. 2 on specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia,

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 14}$  ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°7, paragraph 7 (and paragraphs 17-26 of the Explanatory Memorandum)

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 15}$  ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°7, paragraph 8 (and paragraph 27 of the Explanatory Memorandum).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See above "Civil and administrative law provisions".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See above "Civil and administrative law provisions".

antisemitism and intolerance at national level<sup>18</sup>, and General Policy Recommendation No. 7, ECRI stresses the need for these specialised bodies to be fully independent in order to guarantee their effectiveness.

26. Also established by the IPETA, the Council of the Government for the Implementation of the Principle of Equal Treatment is composed of representatives of ministries and governmental services, non-governmental organisations and expert institutions in the field of equal treatment. The role of the Council is to: monitor the implementation of the IPETA; assess the position of specific groups within society with respect to the principle of equality; submit recommendations and proposals for measures for the implementation of the principle of equal treatment and for the promotion of education, awareness-raising and research in this field. At the time of writing, the Council is reported to have convened only a few times.

#### **Recommendations:**

- 27. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities in their efforts to ensure that the legal framework against racial discrimination is adequately supported by institutional mechanisms which monitor and assist in its implementation and promote research and awareness in the field of non-discrimination and equality.
- 28. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities keep the status, powers and duties of the Advocate of the Principle of Equality under review, in order to ensure that it provide victims of racial discrimination with the most effective protection possible. To this end, ECRI draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to its General Policy Recommendations No. 2 and No. 7, which provide detailed guidelines on the establishment, functions and working methods of these bodies. In particular, ECRI draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to the need for such a body to be independent and to the guidelines it formulated on how to guarantee such independence<sup>19</sup>. ECRI also draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to the status to the guidelines it has provided on the powers that should be attributed to such a specialised body<sup>20</sup>.

#### The Human Rights Ombudsman

- 29. In its second report, ECRI welcomed the protection provided by the Human Rights Ombudsman to individuals against violations of their rights by organs of the state, local administration and other public authorities and recommended that awareness about the role of this institution in providing protection in fields covered by ECRI's mandate be raised among the general public. ECRI has been informed by the Human Rights Ombudsman that this institution is rather well known by the general public, including minority groups more vulnerable to discrimination, and that his Office is in regular contact with representatives of these groups. Although members of minority groups do file complaints with the Human Rights Ombudsman these complaints rarely focus on racism or racial discrimination directly, although these phenomena may in some cases play a part.
- 30. ECRI is pleased to note that the Parliament has agreed to extend the rules of procedure of the Human Rights Ombudsman so as to establish a department dealing especially with discrimination and intolerance. In addition to handling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CRI (97) 36: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 2: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, June 1997.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°2, Principle 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°7, paragraph 24 (and paragraphs 50-55 of the Explanatory Memorandum) and ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°2, Principle 3.

individual complaints, this department will focus on education, research and awareness raising for the promotion of mutual respect and the prevention of discrimination in Slovenian society.

31. While it welcomes the support provided to this initiative, ECRI notes that the recommendations and findings of the Human Rights Ombudsman in areas falling within ECRI's mandate have not always been followed by the State and other public authorities concerned since ECRI's second report.

#### **Recommendations:**

32. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities ensure compliance of State and other public administrations with the recommendations and findings of the Ombudsman in all cases.

#### Education and awareness-raising

- 33. In its second report, ECRI encouraged the Slovenian authorities to strengthen school education aimed at promoting awareness of human rights and respect of difference. As was the case at the time of ECRI's second report, this type of education is essentially imparted as part of a compulsory course, "Citizenship and Ethics", but also through optional courses and references in other subjects. The Slovenian authorities have reported to ECRI that as part of a review of the school curricula for all subjects which will start in 2006, they intend to strengthen the importance given to human rights and the positive role of diversity across all subjects, and increase opportunities for pupils to learn about these issues and absorb these values through extra-curricular activities. In the framework of this review, the Slovenian authorities will also discuss the introduction of a new compulsory subject focusing on human rights in secondary education.
- More generally, ECRI considers that in spite of some welcome information 34. initiatives highlighted in other parts of this report<sup>21</sup>, there is still limited awareness in Slovenian society of racism and racial discrimination and confidence in the fact that these phenomena can be redressed or punished. ECRI finds that this situation concerns different segments of society (including the authorities, the general public and victims of racism and racial discrimination themselves) and that their combination and mutual influence prevent these phenomena from being tackled effectively in many cases. For instance, the Slovenian authorities have on several occasions highlighted to ECRI that, in spite of steps taken to encourage victims of racism and racial discrimination to come forward, they have received no complaints. On the other hand, ECRI notes that members of minority groups often feel that it is of no use, or even in some cases counterproductive, for them to file a complaint as there is no acceptance or recognition of racial discrimination on the part of the authorities. Another illustration of how lack of awareness of the role of racism and racial discrimination prevents the adoption of effective measures to counter these phenomena concerns the issue of positive measures aimed at improving the situation of certain disadvantaged groups. ECRI notes that positive measures, for instance for the Roma population, are already being taken in certain areas. However, the Slovenian authorities have highlighted that they often have to keep a low profile concerning these measures as segments of the Slovenian population are unconvinced about the need for such measures or, in some cases, hostile to them. However, ECRI considers that on the contrary, civil society support for such measures is primordial and that such support can only be gained by raising awareness of the role played by racism and racial discrimination in effectively preventing certain minority groups from enjoying genuinely equal opportunities with the rest of the Slovenian population.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See above "Criminal law provisions" and "Civil and administrative law provisions".

#### Recommendations:

- 35. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities to strengthen their efforts to provide human rights education in schools with special emphasis on equality and respect for difference. This should be reflected in education imparted within "Citizenship and ethics", in the curricula for other subjects and in extra-curricular activities. In the long term however, ECRI considers that the Slovenian authorities should consider making human rights a compulsory subject at both primary and secondary level.
- 36. ECRI strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to raise the awareness of racism and racial discrimination and confidence in the fact that these phenomena can be redressed or punished, among public institutions, the general public and victims of racism and racial discrimination. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to raise awareness within society of the need for any genuine equal opportunities policy to include positive measures aimed at improving the situation of certain disadvantaged groups.

#### Reception and status of non-citizens

#### - Asylum seekers

- 37. As mentioned in ECRI's second report, the number of asylum applications in Slovenia had been growing sharply until 2000, when 9 244 applications were filed, then fell considerably in 2001 (1511 applications) and 2002 (640 applications). Since then, Slovenia received 1201 applications in 2003, 1208 in 2004, 1674 in 2005 and 260 in the first six months of 2006. The Slovenian authorities report that, as was the case at the time of the second report, a large majority of cases are discontinued because applicants have given up the procedure and possibly moved to another country. In the cases that were not discontinued, the Slovenian authorities have issued 37 positive decisions (i.e. refugee status or humanitarian protection) in 2003, 39 in 2004, 26 in 2005 and 5 in the first six months of 2006.
- 38. ECRI notes with concern that there have been significant changes in the legal framework regulating asylum since its last report, notably through the adoption of amendments to the Law on Asylum in March 2006<sup>22</sup>. The Slovenian authorities have stated that they have reformed the asylum system to comply with demands from the European Union for stricter border control and that they consider these amendments to be in line with existing international standards and notably with the Directives of the European Union on asylum issues. However, ECRI notes that in the opinion of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), these amendments lowered previous protection standards, which in some respects were higher than average, to even below the requirements of international standards. ECRI highlights below some areas that are a cause for concern and need to be closely monitored.
- 39. The March 2006 amendments have modified Article 26 of the Law on Asylum to introduce what is often referred to as police pre-procedure. Essentially, this article leaves it to the border police to decide whether a person who has crossed the border may apply for asylum or not. ECRI is deeply concerned that the police pre-procedure will result in an increased likelihood of individuals being returned to countries where they are at risk of serious human rights violations, contravening well established human rights standards. It notes that the Constitutional Court is currently examining the conformity of Article 26 of the Law on Asylum with the Constitution and that the implementation of the relevant provisions of Article 26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Law on Changes and Amendments to the Law on Asylum, March 2006

has been suspended pending this examination. ECRI notes that the Slovenian authorities have indicated that the Ministry of Interior will follow the decision of the Constitutional Court. In its second report, ECRI expressed deep concern at reports according to which non-citizens arriving at the Slovenian border who would like to apply for asylum were not always able to do so. ECRI regrets that the Slovenian authorities have chosen to introduce the police pre-procedure in spite of this important recommendation.

- 40. The amendments to the Law on Asylum also remove free legal aid from asylum seekers in first instance asylum proceedings. Free legal aid is only available in the appeals phase, which is however limited in practice to judicial review only. The Slovenian authorities have reported to ECRI that alternative ways of providing free legal assistance in first instance asylum cases are available, notably through the European Refugee Fund.
- 41. ECRI notes that following the adoption of the amendments, asylum seekers, who were previously allowed to work, are entitled to do so only one year after lodging their application and if it is considered that they are not responsible for the long duration of the procedure. ECRI furthermore notes that the amendments to the Law on Asylum remove the financial allowance to which asylum seekers were previously entitled. The Slovenian authorities have stressed that the allowance is not necessary since asylum seekers' basic needs are fully met at the centres where they are accommodated<sup>23</sup>. It has been reported to ECRI, however, that some necessary items are not always available at these centres.
- 42. In its second report, ECRI also made recommendations to the Slovenian authorities in the field of reception of asylum seekers. Noting the sometimes harsh living conditions in facilities where asylum seekers were accommodated, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities improve the accommodation arrangements for asylum seekers. ECRI is pleased to note that since then, a reception facility was opened in Ljubljana in September 2004, which provides improved living conditions, including separate areas for particularly vulnerable groups of asylum seekers. It has been reported to ECRI however, that the reception capacity of the new facility (around 200 persons) is not sufficient to meet the reception needs, with consequent recurrent situations of overcrowding. As concerns health care and education, ECRI notes that asylum seekers' access to these services is limited to emergency health care and primary education. The Slovenian authorities have underlined however, that in practice, most health treatments are covered and that when asylum seekers express a wish to follow secondary education, practical arrangements are made to enable them to do so.
- 43. More generally, ECRI has registered a deterioration in the co-operation established by the Slovenian authorities with organisations active in the field of promoting the rights of asylum seekers in 2004 and 2005, although it notes that more recently the situation in this respect has somewhat improved.

- 44. ECRI urges the Slovenian authorities to ensure full compliance with the prohibition to return individuals to countries where they are at risk of serious human rights violations. To this end it recommends that they review their decision to introduce the police pre-procedure.
- 45. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities continue to ensure that free legal aid is available to asylum seekers from the outset of the asylum proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See below.

- 46. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities ensure that asylum seekers have the necessary means available to cater for their basic needs, including by providing them with adequate opportunities to work.
- 47. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities in their efforts to ensure that adequate reception facilities are available to asylum seekers. It recommends that they ensure that these facilities are capable of meeting reception needs at all times. ECRI furthermore recommends that asylum seekers be provided by law with adequate access to healthcare services and secondary education.
- 48. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities strengthen co-operation with organisations active in the field of promoting the rights of asylum seekers and use their knowledge and experience to shape policy concerning asylum seekers.

#### - Refugees

49. Since ECRI's last report, developments have taken place in the field of favouring the integration of recognised refugees. In particular, ECRI notes that a Decree on the Rights and Duties of Refugees was adopted in spring 2004. In accordance with the Decree, an individual integration agreement is concluded between the refugee and the Ministry of the Interior, covering areas such as attendance of classes in the Slovenian language and society, involvement in further education, assistance in finding accommodation and employment, etc. ECRI welcomes the efforts of the Slovenian authorities to favour the integration of refugees in society, although it notes reports according to which lack of adequate resources and coordination between the various Ministries, implementing agencies and local authorities have so far limited the effectiveness of these measures.

#### **Recommendations:**

50. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities to strengthen their efforts to promote the integration of refugees in society, including by securing adequate resources and co-ordination among the different actors involved.

#### Access to public services

#### - Access to education<sup>24</sup>

51. ECRI notes that since its second report, the issue of the disproportionate representation of members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups in certain schools has come to the public attention. In particular, ECRI notes the case of one primary school in Ljubljana (Livada) where as many as 97% of the pupils were children from families from other ex-Yugoslav countries, whereas their proportion according to the ethnic composition of the school district should have been around 50%. This situation appears to be the result of the decision of the parents of ethnic Slovenian children to enrol their children in other schools. The Human Rights Ombudsman, who investigated this situation in 2004, found that the procedure for allowing parents residing in the school district to send their children to other schools had not been followed. However, and in spite of efforts by the school to promote itself publicly and in the school continue to come from non-ethnic Slovenian families.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> For issues related to access to education of Roma children, see below "The situation of the Roma communities". For issues related to access to minority language education for members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups, see below "Vulnerable groups – Ex-Yugoslav minority groups".

52. ECRI notes that specialised teaching of Slovenian as a second language has been introduced since ECRI's second report – a programme targeted essentially at Roma children was launched in 2005. The Slovenian authorities have reported to ECRI that they are aware of the need to make further progress in this area and that they are working to improve provision of this subject.

#### **Recommendations:**

- 53. ECRI strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities monitor the situation as concerns the disproportionate representation of pupils from ethnic minority groups, including ex-Yugoslav minority groups, in schools. It recommends that the authorities take, as necessary, swift measures to avoid *de facto* segregation in schools, by acting in close consultation with the school communities.
- 54. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities to continue and further improve provision of specialised teaching of Slovenian as a second language in schools.

#### Access to housing

55. There is no data available on the role played by racial discrimination in housing in Slovenia and ECRI has no knowledge of any individual cases of racial discrimination in housing having been dealt with by the competent bodies since its last report. However, ECRI notes that research seems to point at imbalances between the housing situation of certain minority groups, for instance members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups, and that of the majority population. Although it has been pointed out that the role played by racial discrimination in this situation is difficult to assess, it has also been stressed that imbalances for certain groups are such that further research, and generally more attention paid to these questions on the part of the authorities, would be necessary.

#### Access to other services

- 56. In its second report, ECRI noted reported instances of discrimination of members of certain minority groups, including Roma and ex-Yugoslav groups, in access to public services. The Slovenian authorities report that since ECRI's last report, compulsory human rights training has been introduced for all civil servants and that administration officials serving in areas with a high concentration of minority groups receive special diversity training. ECRI also notes that the non-governmental sector has been active in providing training in this area.
- 57. ECRI notes reports according to which in some instances persons of immigrant background have been refused entry to public places such as bars and night clubs for no apparent reason other than their ethnic origin, although it understands that no complaints have been filed with the competent authorities.

- 58. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to investigate possible patterns of racial discrimination in housing and devote more attention to this issue in policy making and in the implementation of the legal provisions in force.
- 59. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities in their efforts to provide civil servants with training in human rights. It recommends that efforts be continued and strengthened to provide public officials, and especially those who are most often in contact with persons from minority groups, with the necessary skills to operate professionally in a multicultural society.

60. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to investigate any practices in use in the entertainment industry of refusing entry to persons of immigrant background to certain establishments and take the necessary corrective action.

#### Employment

- 61. In its second report, ECRI welcomed the antidiscrimination provisions contained in the Employment Relationship Act of April 2002 and recommended that the Slovenian authorities ensure effective implementation of these provisions. The Slovenian authorities have reported that since then, 13 violations of the prohibition of discrimination have been ascertained by the Labour Inspection, but never on grounds covered by ECRI's mandate. To ECRI's knowledge, the only two individual cases of racial discrimination to have been put before public institutions since ECRI's second report date back to 2003 and have been filed with the Ombudsman in one case, and the Labour Court of Maribor in the other. The Slovenian authorities have reported to ECRI that they have taken measures to inform members of minority groups vulnerable to racial discrimination of the possibility to file complaints, but that no complaints have followed.
- 62. In spite of the apparent lack of individual cases of racial discrimination in employment, data on the employment situation of the population of Slovenia appears to point to imbalances between people of different ethnic origin that would require further investigation. For instance, it has been reported to ECRI that unemployment and unskilled work affect members of certain minority groups, including ex-Yugoslav minority groups, in a disproportionate manner even when possible lower levels of educational attainment are taken into account. It has also been observed that only rarely do members of ethnic minority groups reach leading positions in the civil service or certain branches of the private sector.
- 63. ECRI notes that initiatives aimed at improving the position of ethnic minority groups in the labour market have been taken in some cases. The Slovenian authorities report that the Ministry of Labour, Family and Social Affairs has started to develop measures aimed at strengthening the integration of members of these groups into the labour market. More recently, initiatives in this area funded through the EQUAL project of the European Union have been launched, although it is too early to assess their effectiveness.

- 64. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities strengthen their efforts to improve implementation of the legal provisions in force against racial discrimination in employment. To this end, it recommends in particular that they strengthen their efforts to reach out to members of minority groups to inform them of the possibility of filing complaints and boast their confidence in the utility of doing so.
- 65. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to investigate possible patterns of racial discrimination in employment.
- 66. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities step up their efforts to improve the position of ethnic minority groups in the labour market.

#### Vulnerable groups

#### - Roma communities

67. See Section II below

#### Ex-Yugoslav minority groups

- 68. As already noted in ECRI's second report, members of minority groups from other territories of the Former Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (hereafter: ex-Yugoslav minority groups) account for a part of the population of Slovenia generally estimated at around 10%<sup>25</sup>. In its second report, ECRI noted that members of these groups experienced discrimination in some areas, both in the private and in the public sector. ECRI addresses these aspects in other parts<sup>26</sup> of this report. As concerns the situation of persons erased from the register of permanent residents in 1992, virtually all of whom are members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups, this aspect is also dealt with in another section of the report<sup>27</sup>. In this section, ECRI addresses the situation of the members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups as concerns preservation and promotion of identity through culture, education and media. In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities improve opportunities available to members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups in this area.
- 69. As already noted in ECRI's second report, unlike the Hungarian, Italian and Roma minority groups, ex-Yugoslav minority groups are not granted specific rights by the Slovenian legal system. However, the Slovenian authorities have stressed that in terms of preservation and promotion of identity, members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups enjoy the rights that the Constitution recognises in this area to all persons<sup>28</sup>. ECRI has registered deep dissatisfaction among members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups at this situation, which in their view, in addition to not reflecting their important contribution to Slovenian society, results in largely inadequate opportunities for them to express, preserve and promote identity. ECRI is concerned at this situation. It is particularly concerned to learn that, although representatives of these groups were received by the Ministry of Culture in June 2005, attempts to establish an ongoing dialogue with the Slovenian authorities on how to improve rights and opportunities available to them in these areas have for the moment been unsuccessful.
- 70. As regards funding for cultural projects, ECRI notes that members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups still have access to funding on a project basis, and not on the basis of specifically earmarked budgetary appropriations. The Slovenian authorities have stressed that funding for cultural projects has been considerably increased since ECRI's last report. However, ECRI notes consistent reports

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Official data updated to 31 December 2004, indicates that 9.2% of the population of Slovenia was born in one of the other territories of the Former Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia. According to the last census, carried out in 2002, where respondents were free to declare their national/ethnic affiliation, the population of Slovenia is composed by Slovenes (83.06%), Serbs (1.98%), Croats (1.81%), Bosniacs (1.10%), Muslims (0.53%) Albanians (0.31%), Macedonians (0.20%) Roma (0.17%), Montenegrins (0.14%) and other groups.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See "Access to public services – Access to education", "Access to public services – Access to housing" and "Employment".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See "The situation of the "erased"".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Article 61 of the Constitution (Expression of national affiliation) stipulates that "Everyone has the right to freely express affiliation with his nation or national community, to foster and give expression to his culture and to use his language or script". Article 62 of the Constitution (Right to use one's language and script) stipulates that "Everyone has the right to use his language and script in a manner provided by law in the exercise of his rights and duties and in procedures before the State and other bodies performing a public function".

according to which these funds remain largely insufficient. It has also been pointed out that there is no financial provision for creating infrastructures, which is in many cases a precondition for successfully carrying out cultural activities.

- 71. As for mother tongue education, ECRI notes that there has been very little progress since ECRI's second report. Optional classes in certain languages of ex-Yugoslav countries have in some cases been introduced. However, ECRI understands that these courses are fully extra-curricular (i.e. not graded) and that adequate teaching material is not yet available. ECRI notes that in a few cases, schools have introduced instruction in minority languages for specific subjects. However, by and large, ECRI notes that the number of children who attend these classes is very low.
- 72. In its second report, ECRI encouraged the Slovenian authorities to improve the presence of ex-Yugoslav minority groups in the media. Although publications in the languages of ex-Yugoslav minority groups exist, ECRI notes that the presence of such groups on public radio and television is particularly limited. It has been reported to ECRI that only between 1 and 2% percent of all public funds earmarked for minority media and information activities are currently given to ex-Yugoslav minority groups. Furthermore, while it welcomes the fact that the new Public Broadcasting Law makes provision for programmes for Roma, ECRI notes that no such provision is made for ex-Yugoslav minority groups.

#### Recommendations:

- 73. ECRI urges the Slovenian authorities to initiate and maintain a meaningful dialogue with the representatives of ex-Yugoslav minority groups on how best to ensure that their needs in the field of promoting identity are met.
- 74. ECRI strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities make progress in the field of providing members of ex-Yugoslav minority groups with opportunities to promote their identity, notably through culture, education and media. It recommends that in addressing the rights and opportunities of minority groups in these fields, the Slovenian authorities take a more inclusive approach reflecting the contribution of ex-Yugoslav minority groups to Slovenian society.

#### - Muslim communities

- 75. As already noted in ECRI's second report, Muslims in Slovenia comprise different communities, including ex-Yugoslav minority groups, essentially Bosniacs and ethnic Albanians, and a small group of persons from countries outside Europe.
- 76. As mentioned in other parts of this report<sup>29</sup>, Muslims in Slovenia have been the target of hate speech in politics and sometimes the subject of generalisations or negative portraval in the media. In this section however, ECRI deals with an issue of particular concern to the Muslim communities of Slovenia, which ECRI already addressed in its second report: the building of a Mosque in Ljubljana. In its second report, ECRI noted that the practicing Muslim communities did not always have appropriate premises for religious events and activities and that the request, made many decades ago, for a Mosque to be built in Ljubljana had not yet been successful. ECRI urged the Slovenian authorities to remedy this situation. At the time of writing, however, the Mosque has not yet been built. ECRI understands that the land has been identified and that the Islamic Community of Slovenia expects to purchase it in 2006. However, ECRI understands that segments of the local communities have continued to express resistance and that legal suits have been filed concerning environmental dangers that the building of the Mosque would supposedly entail. ECRI regrets that the practicing Muslim communities of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See below "Media" and "Use of racist and xenophobic discourse in politics".

Slovenia are still deprived of adequate religious premises. It is furthermore concerned that the issue of the building of the Mosque has largely served as an occasion for the expression of Islamophobic attitudes in political and public debate.

#### Recommendations:

77. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that the Slovenian authorities ensure without further delay that the Muslim communities enjoy the use of a proper Mosque to practice their religion.

#### • Other groups

- 78. In its second report, ECRI noted that the German-speaking minority groups were still faced with some prejudice and stereotyping, notably linked to the events of the Second World War and encouraged the authorities to pay attention to this problem. ECRI is not aware of any specific initiatives having been taken in this field and notes that some manifestations of intolerance towards the members of these groups, including in the form of insulting graffiti sprayed on the premises of their cultural associations, have continued to occur.
- 79. In the field of promoting identity and culture, the Slovenian authorities report that an extensive analysis of existing measures for the protection of the Germanspeaking population's cultural heritage and activities was carried out in 2006. However, ECRI notes that funding for initiatives in these areas does not cover the needs of the members of these communities. Once again, ECRI notes that attempts from members of these communities to establish a dialogue with the authorities on how to improve the situation in this field have not been successful.
- 80. ECRI notes that, since its last report, Sinti groups have also approached the Slovenian authorities with requests for their identity and culture to be promoted and supported.

#### Recommendations:

- 81. ECRI reiterates its recommendation that the Slovenian authorities continue and strengthen their efforts to specifically address prejudice and stereotyping still facing the German-speaking communities.
- 82. ECRI recalls its recommendation formulated above concerning the need for dialogue to be opened and maintained with minority groups on the issue of opportunities available to promote identity. It recommends that the Slovenian authorities ensure that the German-speaking and Sinti groups are included in such dialogue.

#### Antisemitism

83. As mentioned in ECRI's second report, there is a Jewish community of a few hundred persons in Slovenia. ECRI notes that there are initiatives in place to promote knowledge of Jewish culture and history and counter antisemitism. These include compulsory school education on the Holocaust, the establishment of a Holocaust Memorial Day around which commemoration and other activities are organised, as well as the publication of a bulletin by the Jewish community. ECRI understands that religious life of the Jewish community has been revived, for instance through links established with the Jewish communities of Trieste, Italy, and the organisation of a campaign for the purchase of a Sefer Torah. ECRI also understands that, since its last report, there have been cases of restitution of expropriated Jewish property.

84. Manifestations of antisemitism since ECRI's second report have however been reported, including graffiti, abusive and threatening letters sent to members of this community, but also desecration of graves at the main cemetery of Ljubljana. It is also reported that antisemitic prejudice and stereotypes are still relatively common in Slovenian society.

#### Recommendations:

85. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities monitor the situation as concerns manifestations of antisemitism and react to any manifestations that may occur. It draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to its General Policy Recommendation No. 9 on the fight against antisemitism<sup>30</sup>, which contains practical guidance on measures governments can take to this end.

#### Media

86. In its second report, ECRI considered that media professionals should be aware of the danger of negative reporting on minority groups and supported the implementation by media professionals of codes of conduct which favour a more responsible type of reporting. Since then, ECRI has received reports according to which negative stereotyping of minority groups has not decreased in the media. The groups who have reportedly been most affected by this type of reporting are Muslims -- especially due to generalisations or associations between Muslims and terrorism or fundamentalism or in connection with the building of the Mosque -- and the "erased". However, there are reports indicating that positive coverage of these and other minority groups vulnerable to racism have also appeared, notably in the press. Although codes of self-regulation are in place and being used, ECRI is not aware of cases where they have been applied in areas covered by its mandate.

#### **Recommendations:**

87. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities to impress on the media, without encroaching on their editorial independence, the need to ensure that reporting does not contribute to creating an atmosphere of hostility and rejection towards members of any minority groups vulnerable to racism, including Muslims or the "erased". ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities engage in a debate with the media and members of other relevant civil society groups on how this could best be achieved.

## Climate of opinion

- 88. In its second report, ECRI expressed concern at reports according to which it was not infrequent for racist expressions to be heard in the streets or to appear in the press. Since then, ECRI has continued to receive reports according to which these occurrences have not decreased. In fact, ECRI is concerned that the increase in racist, xenophobic and otherwise intolerant speech it has registered in Slovenian politics since its last report<sup>31</sup>, is bound to result in the banalisation of racist, xenophobic and otherwise intolerant attitudes in the general public.
- 89. It has been reported to ECRI that since its last report, extremist Neo-Nazi and skinhead groups have gained visibility in Slovenia. Although the size of and support for these groups is reported to be still rather small-scale, ECRI's attention has been drawn to the fact that since its last report, their members have been increasingly present at public events, such as for instance demonstrations or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CRI (2004) 37: ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°9 on the fight against antisemitism, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, June 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See below, "Use of racist and xenophobic discourse in politics".

activities to rally support for referendums, and active in the organisation of music concerts at which, *inter alia*, hate music is played. It has also been reported to ECRI that these groups have been increasingly visible and active on the Internet, notably through the establishment of websites and participation in discussion forums. ECRI is pleased to note that some action has been taken in these areas. For instance, one such website was deprived of access to Slovenian-based Internet service provision – this site is however now operating through an Internet service provider abroad. ECRI considers, however, that the situation calls for increased attention on the part of the Slovenian authorities.

#### **Recommendations:**

90. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities monitor the situation as concerns the presence and activities of Neo-Nazi and skinhead groups in Slovenia and take all necessary measures to counter them.

#### Use of racist and xenophobic discourse in politics

ECRI expresses serious concern at the use of racist, xenophobic and otherwise 91. intolerant political discourse in Slovenia. Regrettably, this is one of the areas where the situation, already not ideal at the time of ECRI's second report, has deteriorated. Although exponents of some political parties have been particularly active in resorting to this type of propaganda, racist and xenophobic political speech is reported to have become more generalised and to have been used also by politicians exercising important functions at national level. The main targets of racist and xenophobic political discourse -- a reflection of a more general trend in the use of hate speech and intolerant attitudes in the public arena -- have been the "erased", Roma, Muslims, ex-Yugoslav minority groups, but also asylum seekers and, in some cases, visible minorities. Manifestations of racist and xenophobic political discourse have taken different forms and varied in intensity in connection with specific events. For instance, it is reported that such manifestations have been particularly frequent and disturbing during the campaign for the general elections of October 2004 or on the occasion of the organisation of referendums on the building of the Mosque or legislation concerning the "erased". If in most cases racist and xenophobic political discourse has taken the form of derogatory remarks or generalisations concerning the minority groups mentioned above, in some cases it has also taken the form of statements or propaganda, whose conformity with the legislation in force against incitement to hatred may be guestioned.

- 92. ECRI strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to counter the use of racist, xenophobic and otherwise intolerant discourse in politics. It stresses that political parties should take a firm public stand against any forms of racism, discrimination and xenophobia. ECRI recommends that an annual debate be instigated in Parliament on the subject of racism and intolerance faced by members of minority groups, including the "erased", Roma, Muslims, ex-Yugoslav minority groups, asylum seekers and visible minorities.
- 93. ECRI recalls, in this particular context, its recommendations formulated above concerning the need to improve the implementation of the existing legislation against incitement to racial hatred<sup>32</sup>. In addition, ECRI calls on the Slovenian authorities to adopt *ad hoc* legal provisions targeting specifically the use of racist and xenophobic discourse by exponents of political parties, including, for instance, legal provisions allowing for the suppression of public financing for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See above, "Criminal law provisions".

those political parties whose members are responsible for racist or discriminatory acts. In this respect, ECRI draws the attention of the Slovenian authorities to the relevant provisions contained in its General Policy Recommendation N°7<sup>33</sup>.

#### Conduct of law enforcement officials

- 94. In its second report, ECRI noted cases of excessive use of force on the part of the police against members of minority groups, including Roma and non-citizens. Although it has continued to receive reports according to which certain minority groups, and notably Roma, are particularly exposed to police misconduct, including in some cases ill-treatment, ECRI notes that there have been no formal complaints of racism or racial discrimination filed with the police or the Public Prosecutor since its last report. Although no systematic monitoring is carried out of possible racist or racially discriminatory police behaviour, the Slovenian authorities have researched the complaints filed with the police and found that in the very few cases where racism or racial discrimination might be thought to have played a part, the allegations were found to be unsubstantiated.
- 95. In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities establish a body independent of the police authorities to investigate police misconduct, including racist or racially discriminatory behaviour. Although no such body has been established, ECRI notes with interest that the procedure for dealing with complaints filed against the police has been improved and made more transparent since ECRI's last report<sup>34</sup>. The Police Act has been amended and new regulations on the resolution of complaints have been adopted. Thus, in cases where a criminal offence is alleged and in all cases where the complainant is not satisfied with the results of a preliminary conciliatory procedure conducted within the police, the new regulations provide for a specific procedure, which starts at the Ministry of Interior. In this procedure, the results of the investigations, which are carried out by a police officer or Ministry of Interior official, are presented to a three-member panel (comprising two civil society representatives), which decides whether the complaint is founded.
- 96. ECRI has received reports according to which racial profiling is not uncommon within the Slovenian police. It notes that the Human Rights Ombudsman has received some complaints in this area. Following these complaints the Ombudsman applied to the Constitutional Court for a review of the constitutionality of Article 35 of the Police Act, which enables the police to exercise their powers to establish identity on the basis of the "appearance" of a person. ECRI notes that in March 2006, the Constitutional Court found this provision to be unconstitutional<sup>35</sup>. The Slovenian authorities have indicated that the Police Act has been amended in order to comply with the decision of the Constitutional Court.
- 97. In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities strengthen their efforts to improve relations between the police and members of minority groups. The Slovenian authorities have reported that since then, the police training institutions (Police Officers School, Police College and Training Centre) have continued to provide officers with training in human rights, including non-discrimination, and in policing a multicultural society. ECRI also notes that the non-governmental sector has been active in providing training to the police on these issues. ECRI welcomes these efforts. It also notes however that in order to

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 33}$  ECRI General Policy Recommendation N°7, paragraph 16 (and paragraph 36 of the Explanatory Memorandum).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See the Regulation on the Resolution of Complaints, adopted pursuant to Article 28 of the amended Police Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Constitutional Court of Slovenia, U-I152/03-13.

cover the needs for law enforcement personnel along Slovenia's borders with non-Schengen countries, the Slovenian authorities plan to recruit 500 police officers, who will receive intensive training for 6 months only, instead of the usual 18 months. The authorities have ensured ECRI that these police officers will not be involved in the border police pre-procedure described above<sup>36</sup>.

98. The Slovenian authorities have reported that no special initiatives are in place in order to encourage better representation of ethnic minority groups in the police.

#### **Recommendations:**

- 99. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities monitor manifestations of racism and racial discrimination on the part of police officers.
- 100. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities in their efforts to increase efficiency and transparency of the mechanisms to deal with complaints of police misconduct. To this end, it invites the Slovenian authorities to consider the establishment of an entirely independent mechanism, separate from police structures, for investigating allegations of police misconduct, including racist or racially discriminatory behaviour.
- 101. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities to strengthen their efforts to provide law enforcement officials with good quality training in human rights and nondiscrimination. It recommends in particular that they strengthen provision of specific training to raise police officers' sensitivity to cultural diversity in dealing with people of different backgrounds.
- 102. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take action to address practices of racial profiling notably in the exercise of police powers to establish identity.
- 103. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities start considering steps to promote better representation of persons of immigrant background within the police ranks.

#### Monitoring the situation

**104.** In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities develop systems of data collection which would enable them to monitor the position of minority groups in areas such as employment, housing and education. The Slovenian authorities report that data on language (mother tongue and languages spoken) ethnic origin and religion have been collected in the past through censuses, the last of which was carried out in 2002. They also report that, starting from the next census, which will take place in 2011, data will be obtained only from already existing and available registers and administrative sources. It does not appear to ECRI that this information is used at present to monitor the position of minority groups and identify possible patterns of discrimination or disadvantage in certain areas, although ECRI notes that some limited scope analyses are carried out by research institutes<sup>37</sup>. More generally, ECRI notes that the issue of collecting data broken down by religion, language, nationality and national or ethnic origin in order to monitor discrimination and disadvantage has not yet generated a debate in Slovenia involving all the relevant actors (including the Office for Statistics, the data protection agencies, research institutes and minority groups) on the needs to be met and the modalities of such a process.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> "Reception and status of non-citizens – Asylum seekers".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See above "Access to public services – Access to housing" and "Employment".

105. In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities develop a system for monitoring the incidence of acts of racism and racial discrimination and the response of the justice system to any such acts. There have been no significant developments in this area since ECRI's second report. In particular, there is still no systematic monitoring of racially-motivated offences or racist incidents, neither at the level of the police, nor, as mentioned above<sup>38</sup>, at further levels of the criminal justice system.

#### Recommendations:

- 106. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities improve their systems for monitoring the situation of minority groups in different areas of life by collecting relevant information broken down according to categories such as religion, language, nationality and national or ethnic origin. It recommends that they ensure that this be done in all cases with due respect to the principles of confidentiality, informed consent and the voluntary self-identification of persons as belonging to a particular group. These systems should be elaborated in close co-operation with all the relevant actors, including civil society organisations and take into consideration the gender dimension, particularly from the point of view of possible double or multiple discrimination.
- 107. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities to collect readily available and accurate data on the implementation of the criminal, civil and administrative law provisions in force against racism and racial discrimination. This data should cover the number and nature of the complaints filed, the investigations carried out and their results, charges brought, as well as decisions rendered and/or redress or compensation awarded.
- 108. In particular, ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities take steps to monitor the incidence of racially-motivated offences and racist incidents in Slovenia and the response of the criminal justice system (the police, the prosecuting authorities and the courts) to any such acts.

# II. SPECIFIC ISSUES

## The situation of the "erased"

109. In its second report, ECRI dealt at length with the situation of those citizens of other ex-Yugoslav countries who were removed ex officio from the register of permanent residents of Slovenia in 1992 and who since then, are often referred to as the "erased". As explained in that report, following the armed conflict in Slovenia in 1991 and the ensuing independence of the country, over 170 000 of the approximately 200 000 permanent residents of Slovenia from other ex-Yugoslav countries obtained Slovenian citizenship on the basis of the 1991 citizenship law. This law allowed for a six-month window to apply for citizenship. Of the remaining 30 000 persons, approximately 11 000 left Slovenia around that time. However, for a number of reasons, including the war between other successor States of the former Yugoslavia, the uncertain situation prevailing in other such States, and the destruction, loss or inaccessibility of personal documents, 18 305 permanent residents did not or could not apply for Slovenian citizenship or applied and were rejected. As mentioned, these persons were struck off the register of permanent residents on 26 February 1992. Many of these persons - for the most part reportedly persons without good levels of education -- had been living in Slovenia for a long time and some of them were even born in the country. However, as a result of the erasure from the registers, they became foreigners without legal status in Slovenia from one day to the next,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> "Criminal law provisions".

in many cases without being aware of it. Loss of legal status meant for them loss of access to fundamental rights attached to residence, including the right to work and access to healthcare and other social rights, along with the annulation of personal documents and exposure to a risk of deportation.

- 110. In its second report, ECRI noted that a law had been passed in 1999 to open the possibility for the "erased" to apply for permanent residence<sup>39</sup>. It also noted however, that the time-limit of three months to do so and the requirement that applicants prove that they had lived in Slovenia since 1991 without interruptions of longer than three months seriously limited the effectiveness of this law. ECRI notes that approximately 12 000 people have obtained permanent residence permits on the basis of that law. However, such residence permits were not granted with effect from the date of erasure (26 February 1992), but from the date of formal acquisition of these permits, i.e. in a majority of cases, 1999.
- 111. ECRI notes that in April 2003, the Constitutional Court declared the 1999 law unconstitutional, *inter alia* because: it did not give retroactive effect to residence permits; it did not regulate the obtaining of residence permits for those "erased" who had been forcibly deported from Slovenia; it did not prescribe criteria for the fulfilment of the requirement of continuous residence in Slovenia. The Constitutional Court therefore established that the Ministry of Interior must issue supplementary administrative decisions whereby residence permits already granted were given retroactive effect from 26 February 1992 to the date of formal acquisition. It also established that the 1999 law must be amended within six months to determine a new time limit for possible new applications.
- 112. Concerning the first point, ECRI notes that following initial delays, the Ministry of Interior under the former Government started to issue supplementary administrative decisions giving residence permits retroactive effect at the end of 2004. ECRI notes however, that only approximately 4 100 such decisions have been issued. The representatives of the Ministry of Interior under the current Government have stated that they consider that these supplementary decisions do not rest on a sufficiently strong legal basis, and that a general law establishing conditions and criteria for issuing of residence permits should be passed first. ECRI notes however, that in December 2003 the Constitutional Court made it clear that its decision of April 2003 constituted a sufficient legal basis for issuing such decisions and that, in fact, the 4 100 administrative decisions already issued were issued on such a basis. ECRI expresses serious concern at the fact that approximately two-thirds of the "erased" who, since 26 February 1992, have secured citizenship or permanent residence of Slovenia are still not in a position to see their rights linked to permanent residence restored with effect from the date of erasure.
- 113. The situation as concerns the implementation of the other parts of the decision of the Constitutional Court appears very unclear and uncertain at the time of writing and is a cause for serious concern to ECRI. The issue essentially relates to the enactment of a law to regulate the status of approximately 6 000 "erased" who have not yet secured Slovenian citizenship or permanent residence permits and whose current position varies from holders of temporary permits (an estimated 2 500 persons) and persons still living in Slovenia without legal status to persons who have left Slovenia or have been deported. The Slovenian authorities have reported to ECRI their decision to adopt such a law in the form of a constitutional law. ECRI notes that this decision has been widely criticised both within the Parliament and in civil society for effectively and deliberately leading to non-implementation of the Constitutional Court's decision, *inter alia* as it entails the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Law Regulating the Status of Citizens of Other Successor States to the Former Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia.

use of constitutional means and relative procedures (including the need for a qualified majority in Parliament) in order to deal with matters that should be regulated through primary legislation. ECRI is not aware of the exact content of the law, which is reportedly in the drafting process, nor has it been possible to clarify the envisaged timetable for adoption. In any event, ECRI deplores the fact that, as a result of the non-implementation by the Slovenian authorities of the decision of the Constitutional Court, it is still not possible for approximately 6 000 people to regain the rights of which they were unlawfully stripped over fifteen years ago.

114. More generally, ECRI is deeply concerned at the tone prevailing in Slovenian public and political debate concerning the "erased" since its last report<sup>40</sup>. It regrets that this part of the Slovenian population has in many occasions fallen hostage to merely political considerations, including the exploitation of their situation as a vote gainer, and that the debate around the position of these persons has steadily moved away from human rights considerations. It is particularly regrettable that racism and xenophobia have been encouraged and fostered as part of this process, including through generalisations and misrepresentations concerning the loyalty of these persons to the Slovenian State or the economic burden that restoration of their rights would entail.

#### **Recommendations:**

- 115. ECRI urges the Slovenian authorities to restore the rights of persons erased from the registers of permanent residents on 26 February 1992. To this end, it strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities implement the April 2003 decision of the Constitutional Court in good faith and without further delay. This includes the immediate resumption and finalisation of the process of issuing supplementary decisions granting retroactive permanent residence rights, and the adoption of a legal framework enabling those "erased" persons who have not yet secured permanent residence or Slovenian citizenship to have their rights reinstated in a manner that is as fair and generous as possible.
- 116. ECRI urges the Slovenian authorities to take the lead in placing public debate on the situation of the "erased" securely in the realm of human rights and to refrain from generalisations and misrepresentations concerning these persons which foster racism and xenophobia.

#### The situation of the Roma communities

- 117. In its second report, ECRI highlighted a number of areas where Roma faced discrimination and particularly serious situations of disadvantage (including housing, employment and education) and where priority action on the part of the Slovenian authorities was therefore needed. In that report, ECRI also highlighted the need to make progress in other areas such as legislation and countering anti-Roma prejudice within society. ECRI notes that since then, some progress has been made in certain areas. It also notes however, that the continuing use made by the Slovenian authorities of the distinction between autochthonous and non-autochthonous Roma has limited the extent of such progress and the positive impact of measures taken on the situation of the overall Roma population of Slovenia.
- 118. In its second report, ECRI recommended that the Slovenian authorities avoid using this distinction when adopting laws or programmes concerning Roma, in order to ensure that no discrimination occurs. The situation in this area has not changed since ECRI's second report. The Slovenian authorities have explained

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See "Use of racist and xenophobic discourse in politics".

that, although not fully defined, the notion of autochthony is recognised in Slovenian legislation and applies to all minority groups, not just Roma. According to the Slovenian authorities, in essence, a community is considered autochthonous when its members have resided in a specific area traditionally or historically and it is only to the communities residing in these areas that special rights and opportunities can, as a rule, be granted. When it comes to the Roma communities, ECRI notes that in practice, this means that special rights and opportunities are granted to Roma communities residing in certain municipalities where the authorities consider that Roma have lived "autochthonously", and not to those residing in other municipalities. ECRI notes however, that the need for special support for members of the Roma communities throughout the country is so pressing that members of some Roma communities have had to move to the municipalities where autochthonous Roma live in order to benefit from better opportunities in fields such as education or employment that are available there. ECRI also notes that non-autochthonous Roma represent roughly half of the total Roma population of Slovenia and that they include persons who have lived in Slovenia for decades and second and third generation of persons born in Slovenia. More generally, ECRI has registered unanimous lack of support for the distinction between autochthonous and non-autochthonous Roma among all Roma communities.

119. As already noted in ECRI's second report, Article 65 of the Slovenian Constitution provides that the status and specific rights of the Roma community of Slovenia shall be regulated by law. At present, this article of the Constitution is implemented through a number of sector-specific laws and ad-hoc government programmes or decisions. ECRI notes however, that since its second report, the Office for Nationalities has been entrusted with the preparation of a single piece of legislation which will regulate the rights of the Roma communities of Slovenia. At the time of writing, the law is in the drafting process. The Office for Nationalities has reported that a very wide range of civil society actors have been consulted on this law, and that the most representative Roma organisation has been involved in this process from the very beginning. ECRI welcomes this approach and hopes that the points of view of as many Roma organisations as possible, including those representing the interests of Roma considered by the Slovenian authorities as non-autochthonous, will be taken into account in the preparation of this law, which the Slovenian authorities intend to table in Parliament before the end of 2006.

- 120. ECRI recommends that, in their efforts to improve the situation of the Roma communities of Slovenia, the Slovenian authorities avoid using the distinction between autochthonous and non-autochthonous Roma. It considers that particularly in view of the levels of need of this part of the population, any distinction that would affect the Slovenian authorities' ability to cater for all Roma effectively and in a non-discriminatory way should be avoided.
- 121. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities in their efforts to regulate the status and rights of the Roma communities of Slovenia pursuant to Article 65 of the Constitution. It recommends that in this process, the viewpoints of as many Roma organisations as possible be taken into account.
- 122. ECRI is pleased to note that since its last report, the Slovenian authorities have adopted a strategy to improve the situation of Roma in education (hereafter: the Strategy)<sup>41</sup>. The Strategy includes important measures such as the introduction of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> "Strategy for the Education of Roma in the Republic of Slovenia", adopted by the Ministry of Education, Science and Sport in May 2004.

Roma assistant teachers in schools – the position is being formalised as a new professional standard – who will help Roma children overcome linguistic and emotional barriers and work as a bridge both between pre-school and school institutions and between the school and the Roma communities. While it understands that the limited number of serving Roma teaching assistants is linked to the recent introduction of this measure, ECRI underlines that there is a clear need for these assistants to be recruited in many more schools than is the case at present. The Strategy also provides for the inclusion of Roma children in pre-school institutions at least two years prior to enrolment in elementary school.

- 123. In its second report, ECRI expressed concern at the disproportionate representation of Roma children in schools for children with special needs. ECRI notes that the Strategy addresses this question and that since ECRI's second report, the system for referring children to special needs schools has been revised and the persons responsible for implementing this system have been given training. Although the situation is reported to be slowly improving, ECRI notes reports according to which Roma children are still nine times more likely to be sent to special needs schools than their non-Roma peers. As concerns separate classes for Roma children in ordinary schools, ECRI welcomes the fact that the creation of such classes has been prohibited since the school year 2003/2004, although it notes that the arrangements in place in a number of schools have been criticised both domestically and internationally for not complying with this prohibition.
- 124. ECRI notes furthermore that the Strategy provides for the introduction of Romany language lessons in elementary schools as an optional subject, a measure introduced in 2005, but which reportedly needs to be considerably extended. It also provides for the need for curricula for all children to better reflect Roma culture, history and identity, although ECRI is not aware of concrete progress having been made on this front.
- 125. More generally, while the Strategy is welcome, the need for an implementation plan setting out time frames, measurable outcomes, responsibilities and financial resources has been repeatedly highlighted in order to ensure that the Strategy is effectively put into practice. ECRI notes that a working group was established in May 2005 in order to draw up such a plan. The Slovenian authorities have indicated that an overall implementation plan exists, although more specific plans covering individual areas are still to be established. In the meantime, the implementation of some of the measures contained in the Strategy has started, although ECRI understands that for the moment these measures have been targeted essentially to areas where autochthonous Roma live.

- 126. ECRI encourages the Slovenian authorities in their efforts to improve the situation of Roma in education. It strongly recommends that they ensure that all measures provided for in the "Strategy for the Education of Roma in the Republic of Slovenia" are implemented in practice and that time frames, resources, responsibilities, outcomes and monitoring mechanisms are clearly set out in order to facilitate implementation. It strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities implement the Strategy throughout the territory of Slovenia and ensure that all Roma benefit from its measures.
- 127. ECRI urges the Slovenian authorities to ensure that no Roma child without learning disabilities is sent to a special needs school.
- 128. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities promptly address any instances of separate Roma classes in school.

- 129. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities strengthen their efforts to: recruit a number of Roma teaching assistants that meets the needs; improve participation of Roma children in pre-school education; extend provision of Romany language classes; ensure that curricula for all children reflect Roma culture, history and identity and promote appreciation for diversity.
- 130. In its second report, ECRI expressed concern at the living conditions of many Roma living in settlements without access to basic facilities such as running water, heating and sanitation. In general, ECRI notes that housing is one of the areas where progress for Roma is reported to have been minimal since ECRI's last report. Isolated initiatives to improve the housing conditions of Roma people living in certain settlements have been taken. The Slovenian authorities have also reported that since ECRI's second report, legislation has been amended so as to promote the use by the municipalities of regional development funds for Roma housing improvement. However, ECRI notes that an overall strategy aimed at addressing the particularly poor housing conditions of Roma throughout the country which would clearly indicate means of implementation is not yet in place.
- 131. As concerns employment, ECRI notes that the Action Programme for Employment of Roma 2003-2006 contains measures such as the inclusion of young unemployed Roma in primary and vocational schools, the inclusion of adult Roma in subsidised public work schemes and the recruitment of Roma assistants in public service offices in order to improve communication between Roma users and the administration as well as service delivery. While welcoming efforts to improve the employment situation of Roma, ECRI notes that the capacity of these measures to provide viable alternatives to social support and sustainable prospects of insertion in the labour market has been questioned.
- 132. ECRI notes that the Slovenian Government's National Action Plan on Social Inclusion 2004-2006 provided for the preparation of a National Action Programme for Employment and Social Inclusion of Roma. ECRI understands that the programme would not only cover measures to improve social inclusion and employment prospects of Roma and indicate the relevant financial means, but also set objectives in other areas, including education and housing. It seems however, that work in this area has stopped pending the preparation of the general law which will regulate the rights of the Roma communities of Slovenia<sup>42</sup>.
- 133. While disadvantage and discrimination across all fields of life are a reality for most Roma in Slovenia today, in its second report ECRI noted that the material conditions of a significant part of the Roma population were considerably worsened by the fact that they had not managed to secure Slovenian citizenship, or even residence rights. ECRI notes that many of the Roma in this situation are among the persons who were unlawfully erased from the register of permanent residents in February 1992 and whose rights, as mentioned above<sup>43</sup>, are yet to be restored.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See above "The situation of the 'erased'".

#### **Recommendations:**

- 134. ECRI strongly recommends that the Slovenian authorities introduce comprehensive strategies which address all areas where Roma experience disadvantage and discrimination, including housing and employment. It recommends that such strategies be in all cases accompanied by implementation plans setting out time frames, resources, responsibilities, outcomes and monitoring mechanisms in order to ensure that they do not remain a dead letter. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities ensure that these strategies are implemented throughout the territory of Slovenia and benefit all Roma.
- 135. In its second report, ECRI expressed concern about persisting stereotypes and prejudice towards Roma among the general population. Although initiatives to combat anti-Roma prejudice and counter racism and discrimination against this part of the Slovenian population have been taken, ECRI has continued to receive reports indicating that prejudice and stereotypes still deeply affect the lives of many Roma in Slovenia. Often, they manifest themselves in daily forms of discrimination (for instance on public transportation, in bars or restaurants) but on some occasions, they have actually resulted in hate speech, including on the part of politicians. ECRI also notes that since its last report, there have been cases where conflicts in certain municipalities have been left to escalate and have degenerated into demonstrations against local Roma communities. ECRI notes that violence, threats and hate speech have been used in these contexts.
- 136. In its second report, ECRI welcomed the fact that the Law on Local Self-Government required twenty municipalities to provide for the election of a Roma representative in their municipal councils. ECRI is pleased to note that these councillors are in place, although it has received reports according to which their contribution could be made more effective. ECRI notes that in spite of the law and of a decision of the Constitutional Court on the need to comply with it, one municipality, Grosuplje, has not yet modified its statutes and that there is therefore no Roma councillor there. The Slovenian authorities have reported that in 2005, the Law on Local Self-Government was modified in order to provide for sanctions, including dissolution of the municipal council or the removal of the Mayor, in case of non-compliance with its provisions.
- 137. Finally, ECRI notes that there is general agreement that there are notable examples in Slovenia of successful policies of Roma inclusion and of mutual integration between local Roma and non-Roma communities, particularly in the Prekmurje area. ECRI considers that it would be all the more regrettable if all possible efforts were not made to extend existing good practices in this field throughout the country.

- 138. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities strengthen their efforts to combat prejudice and stereotypes towards Roma among the general population, including by ensuring a prompt and unambiguous response in all cases where such prejudice results in more overt manifestations, such as discrimination or hate speech.
- 139. ECRI recommends that the Slovenian authorities ensure that the provisions aimed at ensuring Roma representation in municipal councils are complied with by all relevant municipalities.

140. ECRI recommends that in their efforts to promote social inclusion of Roma and mutual integration between Roma and non-Roma communities, the Slovenian authorities extend existing good practice in this area throughout the country.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

This bibliography lists the main published sources used during the examination of the situation in Slovenia it should not be considered as an exhaustive list of all sources of information available to ECRI during the preparation of the report.

- 1. CRI (2003) 39: Second Report on Slovenia, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, 8 July 2003
- 2. CRI (98) 26: *Report on Slovenia*, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 1998
- 3. CRI (96) 43: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 1: Combating racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, October 1996
- 4. CRI (97) 36: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 2: Specialised bodies to combat racism, xenophobia, antisemitism and intolerance at national level, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, June 1997
- 5. CRI (98) 29: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 3: Combating racism and intolerance against Roma/Gypsies, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 1998
- 6. CRI (98) 30: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 4: National surveys on the experience and perception of discrimination and racism from the point of view of potential victims, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 1998
- 7. CRI (2000) 21: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 5: Combating intolerance and discrimination against Muslims, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, April 2000
- 8. CRI (2001) 1: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 6: Combating the dissemination of racist, xenophobic and antisemitic material via the Internet, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, December 2000
- 9. CRI (2003) 8: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 7: National legislation to combat racism and racial discrimination, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, December 2002
- 10. CRI (2004) 26: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 8: Combating racism while fighting terrorism, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, March 2004
- 11. CRI (2004) 37: ECRI General Policy Recommendation n° 9: The fight against antisemitism, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, June 2004
- 12. CRI (98) 80 rev 4: Legal measures to combat racism and intolerance in the member States of the Council of Europe, European Commission against Racism and Intolerance, Council of Europe, December 2005
- 13. Slovenia, National Action Plan on Social Inclusion (NAP/inclusion), 2004 2006, Ljubljana, July 2004
- **14.** Constitutional Court of Slovenia, U-I152/03-13, *Decision on Article 35 of the Police Act*, March 2006
- 15. Human Rights Ombudsman, *Tenth Annual Report*, Ljubljana, July 2005
- 16. CommDH(2006)8: Follow-up Report on Slovenia by Mr Alvaro Gil-Robles (2003-2005), Assessment of the progress made in implementing the recommendations of the Council of Europe Commissioner for Human Rights, Council of Europe, 29 March 2006
- 17. CommDH(2003)11: Report by Mr Alvaro Gil-Robles, Commissioner for Human Rights, on his visit to Slovenia (11–14 May 2003), Council of Europe, 15 October 2003
- ACFC/INF/OP/II(2005)005: Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, Second Opinion on Slovenia, Council of Europe, 1 December 2005
- 19. GVT/COM/INF/OP/II(2005)005: Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, *Comments of the Government of Slovenia on the Second Opinion of the Advisory Committee on the Implementation of the Framework*

Convention for the Protection of National Minorities in Slovenia, Council of Europe, 1 December 2005

- 20. ACFC/SR/II(2004)008: Second report submitted by Slovenia pursuant to Article 25, Paragraph 1 of the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities, Council of Europe, 6 July 2004
- 21. CERD/C/62/CO/9: Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, Sixty-second session, *Concluding observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination: Slovenia*, United Nations, 2 June 2003
- 22. CERD/C/SR.1570: Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, Sixty-second session, Summary record of the 1570<sup>th</sup> meeting Fifth periodic report of Slovenia, United Nations, 21 March 2003
- 23. CERD/C/398/Add.1: Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, *Fifth periodic report of Slovenia*, United Nations, 28 September 2001
- 24. CCPR/CO/84/SVN: Human Rights Committee, Eighty-fourth session, *Concluding* observations of the Human Rights Committee Slovenia, United Nations, 25 July 2005
- 25. E/C.12/SVN/CO/1: Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, Thirty-fifth session, *Concluding observations of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: Slovenia*, 25 November 2005
- 26. CRC/C/15/Add.230: Committee on the Rights of the Child, Thirty-fifth session, *Concluding observations: Slovenia*, United Nations, 26 February 2004
- 27. CAT/C/CR/30/4: Committee against Torture, 30<sup>th</sup> session, *Conclusions and recommendations of the Committee against Torture: Slovenia*, United Nations, 27 May 2003
- 28. RAXEN National Focal Point for Slovenia, *RAXEN National Annual Report 2004*, EUMC 2005
- 29. 2005 RAXEN Data Collection, National Report, EUMC Racism and Xenophobia Information Network (RAXEN), National Focal Point for Slovenia, October 2005 (under publication).
- 30. Amnesty International, *Slovenia: The 'erased' Briefing to the UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights*, 28 November 2005
- 31. Amnesty International Slovenia, *Civilian Oversight of Police Lessons for Slovenia: Police accountability and mechanisms for dealing with complaints against police*, Ljubljana, September 2004
- 32. European Roma Rights Centre, *Written comments of the ERRC on Slovenia to the United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights*, 3 October 2005
- 33. Eurydice (The information network on education in Europe), *Integrating immigrant children into schools in Europe Slovenia, National description 2003/2004*
- 34. Tratar, Maja Katarina, *Report on measures to combat discrimination, Directives* 2000/43/EC and 2000/78/EC, Country Report Slovenia, European Network of Legal Experts in the non-discrimination field, December 2004
- 35. Tratar, Maja Katarina, *Report on measures to combat discrimination in the 13 candidate countries, Country Report Slovenia*, MEDE European Consultancy and Migration Policy Group, European Commission, May 2003
- 36. United Nations' High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) Representation in Slovenia, Background Note on the Protection of Asylum Seekers and Refugees in Slovenia, Ljubljana, December 2005
- 37. US Department of State, *Country Reports on Human Rights Practices* 2005, 8 March 2006
- 38. US Department of State, International Religious Freedom Report 2005, 8 November 2005